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DECISION 

LOPEZ, J., J. 

Before us is an appeal seeking the reve ·sal of the Decision I dated June 
25, 2019 rendered by the Court of Appeals ( C ) in CA-G.R. CEB CR HC No. 
02332. The CA affi1111ed with modification t e Decision2 dated July 13, 2016 
of the Regional Trial Court (RTC), Branch 4 of Bais City, finding accused­
appellant Benny Dalaguet (Dalaguet) guilty of two (2) counts of lascivious 
conduct under Section 5(6) of the Special rotection of Children Against 
Ahuse, Exploitation, and Discrimination Act. 

Penned by Associate .Justice Gabriel T. Ingles with ssociate Justices Edward 8. Contreras and 
Dorothy Montejo-Gonzaga, concurring; rollo, pp. 5-3 I . 
2 Renderet1 by .Judge Candelario Guillermo V. Gonzalez CA rollo, pp. 59-66. 
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Facts 

In two separate Informations both dated March 29, 2010, Dalaguet was 
charged with violations of Section 5(b), of Republic Act (R.A.) No. 7610, 
which reads: 

Criminal Case No. F-10-49-MJ 

That sometime in December 2009, in the Municipality of­
' Philippines, and within t..1-ie jurisdiction of this Honorable 

Court, the above-named accused, by means of force, coercion, and 
intimidation and with lewd designs and intent to cause to gratify his sexual 
desire or abuse, humiliate, degrade complainant, did, then a.':ld there, 
willfully, unlawfuily and feloniously have sexual intercourse with [AAAJ,3 

a minor, fifteen (15) years old, without her consent and against her will, to 
the damage and prejudice of said victim.4 

Criminal Case No. F-10-50-MJ 

That on or about March 2010, in the Municipality of 11111111 
, Philippines, and within the jurisdiction of this Honorable 

Court, the above-named accused, by means of force, coercion, and 
intimidation and with lewd designs and intent to cause to gratify his sexual 
desire or abuse, humiliate, degrade complainant, did, then and there, 
willfully, unlawfully and feloniously have sexual intercourse with [AAA], 
a minor, fifteen (15) years old, without her consent and against her will, to 
the damage of said victim. 

CONTRARY TO LA W.5 

Upon arraignment on September 22,2010, Dalaguet pleaded not guilty6 

to the offenses charged. 

On December 15, 2010, pre-trial was conducted, and the parties 
mutually stipulated the following facts: 

The identity of the victim or any information which could establish or compromise her identity, as 
well as those of her immediate family or household members, shall be withheld pursuant to R.A. No. 7610, 
entitled "AN ACT PROVIDINO FOR STRONGER DETERRENCE AND SPECIAL PROTECTION AGAINST CHILD ABUSE, 
EXPLOITATION AND DI SCRIM INA TION, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES," approved on June 17, 1992; R.A. No. 9262, 
entitled "AN ACT DEFINING VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND THEIR CHILDREN, PROVIDING FOR PROTECTIVE 
MEASURES FOR VICTIMS, PRESCRIBINO PENAL TIES THEREFOR, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES," approved on March 
8, 2004; Section 40 of A.M. 04- l 0-11-SC, otherwise known as the "RULE ON VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND 
THEIR CHILDREN" (November 15, 2004). (See footnote 4 in People v. Cadano, Jr., 729 Phil_. 576, 578 [2014], 
citing People v. lomaque, 710 Phil. 338, 342 [2013]. See also Amended Administrative Circular No. 83-
2015, entitled "PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES IN THE PROMULOATION, PUBLICATION, AND POSTING ON THE 
WEBSITES OF DECISIONS, FINAL RESOLUTIONS, AND FINAL ORDERS USING FICTITIOUS NAMES/PERSONAL 
CJRCUMSTANCES,"dated September 5, 2017.) 
4 Records (Criminal Case No. F-10-49-MJ), p. 1. 
5 Id (Criminal Case No. F-10-50-MJ), p. 1. 
6 CA rollo, p. 59. 
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1. The identity of the parties and that the private complainant is a 
minor; 

2. That they are neighbors considering e house of the accused is five 
meters away from the house of the private c1mplainant; 

3. That on ~arch 9, 2010 at about 6:0 o'clock in the morning, the 
accused went 1ns1de the house of the private omplainant. 7 

Coru;;d~filg iliat AANs bmh certifi~k w~ admitted by,,, dcfffisc, 
the _test1m~ny_ of the local c1v1l registrar 1as dispensed with. Said birth 
certificate md1cates that AAA was 15 years lld at the time of the incidents. 

Later both parties agreed to a joint tria . 

The prosecution presented the follo ing witnesses: (1) AAA, the 
private complainant; (2) EEE, the grandfat er of AAA; and (3) Marretta 
Rubio (Rubio). 

As culled from the CA Decision, the fa ts show that on August 2, 2011, 
AAA, who was by then 16 years old, took thJ witness stand and testified that 
she knew Dalaguet because he was their famil 's neighbor. She calls Dalaguet 
by his name and that whenever she went to t e field to pasture their cow and 
carabao, Dalaguet would follow her.8 

Sometime in December 2009, while AAA was pasturing the cow, 
Dalaguet followed her, and they met at the field.9 Subsequently, Dalaguet 
carried her and brought her to a hut. 10 The ein, Dalaguet undressed AAA 
while she was already lying down. AAA was bsuccessful in struggling to get 
away from Dalaguet's clutches because the l~tter held her tightly. AAA also 
tried shouting for help, but to no avail, becau e there were no people nearby. 
AAA claimed that Dalaguet was able to inse his penis at the outside portion 
of her vagina, but was not able to penetrate. ccording to AAA, she decided 
not to report the incident to anyone, even to h r parents, because Dalaguet told 
her that her statement would be unbelievable. Dalaguet further told AAA that 
her parents would just maltreat her. I I 

In a separate incident on March 9,201 , Dalaguet managed to sexually 
molest AAA again, this time at their house. AAA did not shout anymore 

7 Id at 60. 
Rollo, p. 7. 

9 Id 
10 Id. 
11 Id. at 8. 
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because Dalaguet warned her to stop, or else a lot of people would hear her. 
AAA testified before the RTC that she did not consent to Dalaguet's sexual 
advances. According to AAA, the incident on March 9, 2010 happened when 
her parents were away, and she was left at home with her sister CCC, who 
was then 9 years old. On said day, Dalaguet told CCC to leave the house, to 
which CCC obliged because she would be attending school that day. After 
CCC left the house, Dalaguet held AAA's hand, made her lie down, and 
undressed her, while he also undressed. At that point, AAA's grai.,dfather, 
EEE, caught Dalaguet sexually molesting AAA. When caught, EEE 
maltreated AAA out of anger. AAA also heard Dalaguet uttering a threat to 
kill EEE and was about to do so, if not for the timely arrival and intervention 
of their neighbor, FFF. 12 

AAA maintained that Dalaguet had sexual intercourse with her on 
December 2009 and March 2010. She recalled that Dalaguet did a push and 
pull movement, but insisted that his penis did not penetrate her vagina. AAA 
was also brought to the Municipal Health Office of ... for medical 
examination. 13 

As regards AAA's medical certificate issued by Dr. Panalip Deme 
Andaya (Dr. Andaya), its due execution was admitted, thus, the testimony of 
Dr. Andaya was dispensed with. 14 Dr. Andaya's medical certificate showed 
that on March 10, 2010, she physically examined AAA and found that there 
were healed lacerations at 1 :00 and 5:00 o'clock portion of AAA's genitalia. 15 

EEE likewise took the witness stand to corroborate AAA's testimony. 
According to EEE, Dalaguet was known to him because they were residents 
of the same barangay. EEE personally identified Dalaguet, who was inside 
the court room. He aiso knows AAA because she is her granddaughter. 16 

According to EEE, on March 9, 2010, he went to the house of his son, 
who is the father of AAA. Upon opening the kitchen door of the said house, 
he saw Dalaguet sexually molesting AAA. After being caught, Dalaguet ran 
away. 17 

Rubio was iikewise presented as a witness to prove that she received an 
Order from the RTC to conduct a study report on AAA's family. According 
to her, she made the study in the unit office and gathered information through 

12 

14 

15 

16 

17 

id. 
Id. at 9. 
TSN, November 15, 20 I 1. 
Rollo, p. 9. 
Id. 
Id. at 8. 

, 



Decision 5 

an interview with a barangay official in 
AAA's mother (BBB), but she was not able 

G.R. No. 249414 

. She also interviewed 
o talk to AAA. 18 

Dalaguet, the lone witness for the defense, interposed denial and 
claimed that the arrest on his person was ill gal because the grounds for the 
crime he was charged with at the time of the arrest were not present. 19 

According to Dalaguet, he went to 's house on March 9, 2010 to 
get his cellphone from AAA, who refused io return it. While Dalaguet was 
trying t~ get his cellphone, he cou~d nea~ly hug AAA because she kept 
transfemng the cellphone from one hand tf another and would sometimes 
hide it behind her back. Eventually, Dal guet was able to retrieve the 
cellphone from AAA.20 

Dalaguet admitted that when he was at AAA' s house, the latter was 
alone. However, he denied seeing EEE in th t instance.21 

In the afternoon of March 9, 2010, the olice officers arrested Dalaguet 
at his house.22 

Dalaguet further denied the incident 
in December 2009 for having no knowledge 

at allegedly occurred sometime 
fthe same.23 

On cross-examination, Dalaguet a · tted that AAA has a younger 
sister CCC, who also lives in the same house owned by their parents, and that 
AAA's grandfather, EEE, is living about five meters away. According to 
Dalaguet, EEE only arrived at the house of Af:A when he was no longer there, 
and that EEE only heard AAA shouting 1hen he was already at work. 
Dalaguet further stated that AAA's family owns a native house or "payag 
payag' where they would usually pasture the livestock.24 

On clarificatory questioning by the R C, Dalaguet declared that as far 
as his whereabouts on December 2009 when fue alleged incident occurred, he 
could not have sexually molested AAA bec 1 use he stayed in his house the 
entire time. 25 

18 Id. at 7. 
19 Id. at 9. 
20 Id. 
21 Id. 
22 Id. ,. 
.o Id. 
14 Id. at9-10. 
25 Id. at 10. 
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On July 13, 2016, the RTC issued a Decision, convicting Dalaguet with 
two (2) counts of rape, the dispositive portion of which reads: 

WHEREFORE, in view of t;he foregoing, the accused Benny 
Dalaguet is hereby found guilty beyond reasonable doubt ( the victim being 
a minor as admitted by the defense and proven by her Birth Certificate) for 
two (2) counts of Rape and he is hereby sentenced to a penalty of Reclusion 
Perpetua or a period of twenty (20) years and one (l) day to forty ( 40) years 
for each count of Rape. Accused is also ordered to pay the victim, [AAA], 
the amount of One Hundred Thousand Pesos [P]l00,000.00 for actual 
damages and another One Hundred Thousand Pesos [P]l00,000.00 for 
moral damages.26 

For the first incident of rape on December 2009, the RTC found that 
AAA usually pastures the family cow &'l.d carabao at the place where the 
family has a "payag-payag," which was admitted by Dalaguet.27 Thus, the 
RTC did not sustain Dalaguet's bare allegation of denial that he could not 
have raped AAA.28 Dalaguet did not even present any member of his family 
who could have testified that he was in their house when the rape incident 
happened.29 The RTC also ruled that a bare allegation of denial is a negative 
and self-serving defense, which cannot be given greater evidentiary value over 
convincing, straightforward, and probable testimony on affirmative matters.30 

For the second incident of rape on May 9, 2010, aside from AAA' s 
testimony, the RTC gave weight and credence to the testimony of AAA's 
grandfather, EEE, who witnessed Dalaguet sexually molesting AAA.31 

The RTC likewise gave weighty consideration to the medical findings 
of Dr. Andaya, who testified that she physically examined AAA on May 10, 
2010 and found lacerations in AAA's hymen, which was "the wrench that 
held the evidence together."32 

Aggrieved, Dalaguet appealed to the CA. 

On June 25, 2019, the CA issued the assailed Decision, which affirmed 
with modification Daiaguet's conviction, the dispositive portion of which 
reads: 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

WHEREFORE, the appeal is hereby DENIED. The Decision dated 
July 13, 2016 of the Regional Trial Court (RTC), .. , Branch 45 in 
Criminal Case Nos. F-10-49-MJ and F-10-50-MJ is AFFIRMED WITH 

CA rollo, p. 66. 
Id at 63. 
Id at 63-64. 
Id at 64. 
Id 
Id 
Id at 65. 
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MODIFICATION. Accused-appellant Be y Dalaguet is hereby found 
GUILTY beyond reasonable doubt of two (2D counts of Lascivious Conduct 
under Section 5(b) of RA. No. 7610 arld is sentenced to suffer the 
indeterminate penalty of eight (8) years and ne (1) day of prisi[6Jn mayor 
as minimum, to seventeen (17) years, four 4) months and one (1) day of 
reclusion temporal as maximum, for each count of violation. Accused­
appellant is ORDERED to pay private co plainant AAA the amounts of 
[:1."]50,000.00 as civil indemnity, [:l."]50,0 0.00 as moral damages, and 
[:l."]50,000.00 as exemplary damages, for each count of violation, with legal 
interest of six percent ( 6%) per annum fr m the date of finality of this 
judgment until full payment. 

SO ORDERED.33 

The CA found Dalaguet guilty beyon reasonable doubt for two counts 
of lascivious conduct under Section 5(b) o Republic Act (R.A.) No. 7610 
holding that the CA held that the prosebution failed to prove beyond 
reasonable doubt, all the elements of rape through sexual intercourse under 
Article 266-A (la) of the Revised Penal Code (RPC), to wit: a) the man had 
carnal knowledge of a woman; and (b) he ace I mplished this act through force, 
11rreat or intimidation. 

Although AAA's categorical and po itive testimony established that 
Dalaguet is her perpetrator and that he com itted sexual acts through threat, 
or intimidation, the CA noted that sexual int rcourse was not proved beyond 
reasonable doubt. The CA found that ther was failure on the part of the 
prosecution to prove penetration of Dalag et's penis into AAA's vagina. 
AAA was even consistent in categorical y stating, aU throughout her 
testimony, that Dalaguet was not able to pen trate her vagina.34 

The CA nonetheless convicted Dala . uet of the crime of lascivious 
conduct under Section 5(b) ofR.A. No. 761 . 

Firstly, AAA testified that Dalaguet committed lascivious conduct 
against her, when on at least two occasions, alaguet made her lie down and 
undressed her, while he also undressed him~elf.35 AAA categorically stated 
that Dalaguet had "sexual intercourse" with lher against her will, although it 
was unclear whether there was penile penetrltion. 

Secondly, AAA who was then 15 y ars old when the offense was 
committed, was coerced to engage in lascivio 1 s conduct.36 As can be gleaned 
from AAA' s testimony, when Dalaguet com itted immodest acts against her, 
she struggled to get away and shouted, but was told not to shout because 

33 Rollo, p. 30. 
34 Id at 13. 
35 Id. at 23. 
36 Id. at 25. 
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people would hear her. Dalaguet also told her that if she tells her parents about 
the incident, they would not believe her. 37 According to the CA, these 
circumstances ca11 be equated with influence and coercion. 

Thirdly, the CA reiterated that it was previously established that at the 
time oft.he commission of the lascivious act, AAA was only 15 years old.38 

On July 29, 2019, Dalaguet filed his Notice of Appea!39 before the CA. 

When the case was brought before this Court, the parties made their 
Manifestations40 that they would adopt their Appellant's and Appellee's 
Briefs, respectively, in lieu of their Supplemental Briefs. 

Issue 

Whether the CA erred in convicting accused-appellant of lascivious 
conduct under Section 5(b), Article HI ofR.A. No. 7610, despite the failure 
of the prosecution to prove his guilt beyond reasonable doubt 

Our Ruling 

The appeal is unmeritorious. 

After a careful review of the records, we find that the prosecution has 
proven beyond reasonable doubt that accused-appellant committed two (2) 
counts of lascivious conduct under Section 5(b) ofR.A. No. 7610. 

AAA 's testimony must be given 
due weight and credence 

As a rule, the crimes of rape and acts of lasciviousness may be proven 
by the sole and uncorroborated testimony of the offended party, provided that 
her testimony is clear, positive, and probable.41 

Jurisprudence has provided the following guidelines in assessing the 
credibility of witnesses: 

37 Id 
38 Id. at 26. 
39 Id. at 32-34. 
40 Id. at 46-48, and 41-43. 
41 People of the Philippines v. Eugene Seguisabal, G.R. No. 240424, March 18, 2021; Edwin Cabila 
v. People of the Philippines, 563 Phil. l 020, l 028 (2007). 
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First, the credibility of witnesses is est addressed by the trial court, 
considering that it is in a unique position to directly observe the demeanor 
ofa witness on the stand. The trial judge's 1valuation of the testimonies of 
the witnesses is given the highest respect, on appeal. Second, where there 
is no substantial reason to justify the reversal of the RTC's assessments and 
con~lusi?ns, ~e reviewing co~ i_s generalfy boun~ by the lower court's 
finding; m particular, when no s1gmficant faots and Circumstances, affecting 
the outcome ~f the c~se _are shown to have b9en disregarded. Third, the rule 
1s more stnctiy applied 1fthe CA concurred "th the RTC.42 

In this case, accused-appellant faults the CA for g1vmg weight and 
credence to AAA's testimony. 

First, accused-appellant avers that AA neither resisted nor orally 
pro!es~e~ ag~inst the alleged rape. 43 Accordiif!~ to him, ~fever there was threat 
or mt1m1dat10n, the same was not persuasive and rorceful to dispel the 
likelihood of a consensual sexual intercours .44 

Second, accused-appellant argues tha AAA's failure to immediately 
disclose the alleged rape to her parents pr ves that the sexual intercourse 
between her and AAA were voluntary.45 

Third, accused-appellant attempts t discredit AAA's credibility 
because of the alleged discrepancy between t e medical certificate and AAA' s 
testimony.46 According to accused-appellan, he cannot be found guilty of 
raping AAA based on the medical certificate, 7 which indicated healed vaginal 
lacerations, while AAA clearly testified th the accused-appellant was not 
able to penetrate his penis into her vagina.4 In addition, accused-appellant 
stressed that had he raped AAA on March , 2010, then there should have 
been fresh lacerations indicated in the find ngs of Dr. Andaya, which she 
issued the day after the incident or on March 10, 2010.49 

This Court finds the inconsistencies as trivial and cannot serve as bases 
of acquittal, as these neither hinge on any f the essential elements of the 
crime of rape50 nor lascivious conduct under Section 5(6) ofR.A. No. 7610. 

42 Id 
43 CA rollo, p. 48. 
44 Id at 49-50. 
45 Id at 51. 
46 Id 
47 Id at 52. 
48 Id 
49 Id 
50 Id 
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The failure to resist and to shout for help during the rape incident were 
discussed in People v. Lolos,51 to wit: 

The fact that the accused never threatened or forced AAA on that 
particular night and that she was still able to go out of the house and buy 
something from a store cannot exculpate him. Even if she did not resist 
him or even gave her consent, his having carnal knowledge of her is still 
considered rape considering that she was only eight (8) years old at that 
time. It must be remembered that the accused is an uncle of the victim 
and has moral ascendancy over her. Her behavior can be explained by 
the fear she had of the accused, who had repeatedly beaten her for various 
reasons. His moral ascendancy over her, combined with memories of 
previous beatings, was more than enough to intimidate her and render her 
helpless and submissive whlle she was being brutalized.52 

In the same case, this Court ruled: 

The behavior and reaction of every person cannot be predicated with 
accuracy. It is an accepted maxim that different people react differently 
to a given situation or type of situation, and there is no standard form 
of behavioral response when one is confronted with a strange or 
startling experience. Not every rape victim can be expected to act 
conformabiy to the usual expectations of everyone. Some may shout; 
some may faint; and some be shocked into insensibility, while others may 
openly welcome the intrusion. Behavioral psychology teaches us that 
people react to similar situations dissimilarly. There is no standard form of 
behavior when one is confronted by a shocking incident. The workings of 
the human mind when placed under emotional stress are unpredictable. This 
is true specially in thls case where the victim is a child of tender age under 
the moral ascenda.ricy of the perpetrator of the crime. 53 

This Court has repeatedly declared that the failure to shout or offer 
tenacious resistance does not make voluntary the rape survivor's submission 
to the perpetrator's lust.54 In addition, physical resistance is not an element of 
rape.55 More often than not, a rape survivor is driven by fear, rather than 
reason. 

On the first incident, AAA narrated that while accused-appellant 
carried her so he could bring her to a nipa hut, AAA struggled and shouted,56 

which clearly showed that accused-appellant employed force and intimidation 
against AAA in facilitating the crime. 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

64 l Phi!. 624 (201 OJ. 
Id. at 633-634. 
Id. (Emphasis supplied.) 
People v. Napoles, 814 Phil 865, 870 (2017). 
Id. 
TSN, August 2, 2011, p. 8. 
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On the second incident, AAA testifie that she did not consent to the 
sexual acts done by the accused-appellant.57

\ When AAA was left alone with 
accused-appellant at her house, she no lohger shouted because accused­
appellant warned her to stop; otherwise, people would hear her.58 During the 
first and second incidents, AAA was only 15 years old when accused­
appellant sexually molested her. Jurispruderl.ce provides that intimidation in 
the crime of rape must be viewed in light of±e rape survivor's perception and 
judgment at the time of the commission ofth crime, and not by any hard and 
fast rule.59 Thus, considering the circum tances surrounding the second 
incident of sexual molestation where AAA .fas of tender age, and it was at 
the very least, the second time that she had ~o endure the pain and trauma of 
being sexually molested by accused-appellaif, this Court finds that accused­
appellant employed sufficient intimidation ti cause AAA to fearfully submit 
to accused-appellant's lust. 

Further, the fact that AAA did not imrpediately disclose to her parents 
her sexual molestation in the hands of accused-appellant does not establish 
that she consented to accused-appella.rit's sex!al advances. This Court stresses 
that ther~ i~ no standard fo~ ~f behavior of a victi~ of sexual molestation 
before, ctunng and after the 1nc1dent; more si for a mmor such as AAA who 
was only 15 years old when accused-appella It sexually molested her. 

• 

As regards the alleged discrepancy bet een the medical certificate and 
AAA's testimony, suffice it to say that th same will not affect AAA's 
credibility as a witness. The inconsistency i$ insufficient to acquit accused­
appellant. It has been repeatedly held that a ~edical certificate is by no I?eans 
controlling.60 A rape survivor's medical ex,mination or the presentation of 
the medical certificate is not indispensable to prove the commission of rape, 
as the testimony of the rape survivor alone, i~ credible, is sufficient to convict 
the accused of the crime.61 The medical ex4ination of the rape survivor and 
the medical certificate are merely corroboratle in character.

62 

The same principle applies for violati ns of Section 5 (b) of R.A. No. 
7610, which also springs from advancing se al desire. 

After examining the factual circumstan es surrounding the instant case, 

we affirm the ruling of the CA. 

57 Id. at 10. 
ss Id 
59 People v. XXX and YYY. G.R. No. 215345, June 23, 2 21 (Resolution). 
60 People v. Manaligod, 831 Phil. 204, 213 (2018). 
61 Id 
62 Id. 
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Accused-appellant cannot be found 
guilty of two counts of rape through 
sexual intercourse 

Article 266-A of the RPC defines how rape through sexual intercourse 
is committed: 

Article 266-A. Rape: When And How Committed. - Rape is committed: 

I. By a man who shall have carnal knowledge of a woman under any of 
the following circumstances: 

a. Through force, threat, or intimidation; 
b. When the offended party is deprived of reason or otherwise 

unconscious; 
c. By means of fraudulent machination or grave abuse of authority; and 
d. When the offended party is under twelve (12) years of age or is 

demented, even though none of the circumstances mentioned above 
be present. 

To warrant a conviction of rape through sexual intercourse under 
Article 266-A (la), the prosecution must prove the following elements 
beyond reasonable doubt: (a) the man had carnal knowledge of a woman; 
and (b) he accomplished this act through force, threat or intimidation. 63 

In this case, accused-appellant's identity as AAA's perpetrator was 
established and confirmed when the identities of the parties were stipulated 
during pretrial.64 AAA's categorical, positive, and straightforward testimony 
proved that on two occasions, accused-appellant committed sexual acts 
against her through force and intimidation. However, such testimony failed 
to prove that she and accused-appellant had sexual intercourse. For this 
reason, accused-appellant cannot be convicted with two counts of rape in its 
consummated stage. 

Carnal knowledge of a female is an essential element of rape through 
sexual intercourse. Jurisprudence has settled that even the slightest 
penetration of the victim's genitals - i.e., the "touching" by the penis of the 
vagina's labia - already satisfies the element of carnal knowledge.65 Carnal 
knowledge has been defined as the act of a man having sexual bodily 
connections with a woman; sexual intercourse.66 Carnal knowledge requires 
the penetration of the female sexual organ by the male's sexual organ.67 In 
cases of rape through sexual intercourse, the crime is deemed consummated 

63 

64 

65 

388. 

People v. Laios, supra note 51, at 632. 
CA rollo, p. 89. 
People of the Philippines v. Ramon Bay-Gd, G.R. No. 238176, January 14, 2019, 890 SCRA 377, 

66 Id 
67 Id. 
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even when the man's penis merely enters the labia or lips of the female 
organ.68 

In People v. Campuhan, 69 this Court efined the extent of "touching" 
by the penis in the crime of rape: j 

[T]ouching when applied to rape cases oes not simply mean mere 
epidermal contact: stroking or grazing o{ organs, a slight brush or a 
scrape of the pems on the external layer of the victim's vagina, or 
the mons pubis, as in this case. There mustte sufficient and convincing 
proof that the penis indeed touched the l bias or slid into the female 
organ, and not merely stroked the exter al surface thereof, for an 
accu~ed to be convicted of consummat~d !jape. As th~ labias, which are 
reqUEred to be "touched" by the pems, ~re by their natural situs or 
location beneath the mons pubis or the vafinal surface, to touch them 
with the penis is to attain some degree of penetration beneath the 
surface, hence, the conclusion that to chlng the labia majora or 
the labia minora of the pudendum constitu es consummated rape. 

The pudendum or vulva is the collecti e term for the female genital 
organs that are visible in the perinea] area, e. _, mans pubis, labia majora, 
labia minora, the hymen, the clitoris, the aginal orifice, etc. The mans 
pubis is the rounded eminence that becom s hairy after puberty, and is 
instantly visible within the surface. The next I yer is the labia majara or the 
outer lips of the female organ composed ofthr1 outer convex surface and the 
inner surface. The skin of the outer convex surface is covered with hair 
follicles and is pigmented, while the inner stuiface is a thin skin which does 
not have any hair but has many sebaceous glarl.ds. Directly beneath the labia 
majora is the labia minara. Jurispruden/:e dictates that the labia 
majara must be entered for rape to be consurrjmated, and not merely for the 
penis to stroke the surface of the female o'gan. Thus, a grazing of the 
surface of the female organ or touchmg the mons pubis of the 
pudendum is not sufficient to constitute co summated rape. Absent any 
showing of the slightest penetration of the female organ, i.e., touching 
of either labia of the pudendum by the penis, there can be no 
consummated rape; at most, it can only b attempted rape, if not acts 
of lasciviousness. 70 

Here, AAA has been consistent in cat gorically stating that accused­
appellant was not able to penetrate his pe is into her vagina. On direct 
examination, AAA testified: 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q Mr. (sic) witness, do you know ofa c rtain Benny Dalaguet? 
A Yes. 

Q Why do you know him? 

63 People v. Quifiano/a, 366 Phil. 390,410 (1999). 
69 385 Phil. 912 (2000). 
70 Id at 920-922. (Citations omitted and emphasis suppli d; italics in the original.) 
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A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Court: 

14 G.R. No. 249414 

Because he is our neighbor. 

Aside from his name Benny Dalaguet, do you call him another 
name? What do you call him? 

I just call him by his name. 

Can your recall of having executed an affidavit in relation to this 
case? 
Yes. 

Showing to you an affidavit previously marked as Exhibit "B". 
Kindly examine this whether this is the same affidavit that you are 
referring to? 
Yes, this is my affidavit. 

There is a signature over the printed name [AAA], whose signature 
is that? 
This is my signature. 

Do you affirm and confirm the contents of the said affidavit as true 
and correct based upon your personal knowledge? 
Yes. 

In your affidavit there is a statement that on December 2009 while 
pasturing your cow and carabao to the farm of a certain Tatay­
he invited you to go with him, am I correct? 
No, what happened was that whenever I'll be there in the field 
pasturing my cow and carabao he was just following me. 

So sometime on December 2009, was he able to follow you? 
Yes. 

And were you able to meet with this Benny? 
Yes. 

Q You mean you had an argument in the farm or somewhere? 
A No. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q After you met him, what happened then if any? 
A He molested me. 

Q When you say "he molested me[,]" can you please tell us how did it 
happen? 

A He raped me. 

Q 

A 

At what particular place in 
Dalaguet rape you? 
In the hut. 

did this Benny 

Q When you met this Benny Dalaguet while pasturing your cow you 
were brought to a hut? 
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A Yes. 

Q After arriving at the hut, what did he do to you? 
A He undressed me. 

Q After undressing you, what happene if any? 

Atty. Lajot: 

We would like to manifest, your Ho. or, t..h.at the witness has a hard 
time in answering the question, your 

I 
onor. 

A He had sex with me. 

Q When you say "he had sex with you[ ]" can you please tell us how 
did the accused have sex with you? 

A He had sexual intercourse with me. 

Court: 

Q Did he make you lie down? 
A Yes. 

Q When he was undressing you[,] you ere still standing up? 
A No. 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 

A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

You were already lying down? 
Yes. 

Did you try to struggle to get away? 
Yes, I struggled. 

And were you able to get away? 
No. 

Why? 

Because he held me tightly. 

Did you shout? 
Yes, I shouted but there were no pe, pie near the hut. 

You mean you had no neighbors that I mtld hear you shout? 
No. 

Q When he brought you to the nipa hut did he force you to go with 
him to the nipa hut and how? 

A No. 

Q 

A 

Q 
A 

How did he bring you to the nipa huf when yo\! said you did not 
voluntarily go with him? Did he c] you or did he drag you by 
holding your h,u1ds or body? 
No. 

So how were you brought to the nipa ut? 
Because when I pastured the carabao · e just followed me. 
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Q But when you were pasturing your carabao you were outside the 
nipa hut? 

A Yes. 

Q So when you arrived you were still outside the nipa hut? 
A Yes. 

Q That's why you were brought to the nipa hut? 
A No. 

Q Where did he bring you? 

Atty. Lajot: 

Court: 

There was a previous answer, [Y]our Honor, that every time she will 
pasture the cow[,] Benny Dalaguet will follow and bring her to a 
nipa hut. 

Yeah, I'm just trying to clarify this because it seems she was not 
brought to the nipa hut. 

A (No answer). 

Q Did he bring you to the nipa hut or not? 
A Yes, he brought me. 

Q You voluntarily went with him to the nipa hut? 
A No. 

Q Did he drag you by the hands or by the body or did he carry you 
bodily? 

A He ca.1Tied me. 

Q So when he was carrying you[,] you struggled? 
A Yes. 

Q And you shouted? 
A Yes. 

Court: 

Proceed. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q When you say Benny Dalaguet had sexual intercourse with 
you[,] you mean to say he inserted his penis into your vagina? 

A Only outside. 

Q So his penis did not penetrate into your vagina? 
A No. 
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Q And after that, what happened? Afte you said that Benny Dalaguet 
had sexual intercourse with you? 

A On March 8. 

Q What I mean Madam witness on th t incident of December 2009 
when you were at the nipa hut? 

A March. 

Atty. Lajot: 

Already answered on March 8. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q Madam witness, that incident on ecember 2009, that you said 
Benny Dalaguet had sexual intercour e with you, did you report the 
said incident to your father or mother or anybody else? 

A No. 

Q Why did you not teli anybody? 
A Because he said to me that if! will ell (sic) my parents about it 

my parents [would] not believe me. hey will just [maltreat] me. 

Q Why are you saying that your parents will not believe you? 
A Because he said that my parents have not seen (sic) during the act. 

Court: 

Q But did you not allege that your gr dfather caught you in the act 
with [the] accused[,] in the act of sex al intercourse? 

A Yes. 

Q At that time you were not anymore shouting? 
A No. 

Q Why? 
A Because he said, "Do not shout bee use mauy might hear. 

Q So to avoid other people from hearin your shout you did not shout 
anymore? 

A Yes. 

Q In other words, you are telling the c urt that you are consenting 
to the sexual advances of Benny Da aguet? 

A No. 

Court: 

Proceed. 

Pros. Ybanez 

Q That incident you said that your Lolo was able to see in the act of 
sexual intercourse with the accused[,] at incident was on March 9, 
20 l 0, an1 I correct? 
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Atty. Lajot: 

Already answered your Honor. The second incident happened on 
March 8. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

There was no mentioned (sic) about March 8, [Y]our Honor. 

Court: 
There was no mentioned (sic) about second or not. It was several 

times. 

Q The last time that you had sexual intercourse with this Benny 
Dalaguet whether it's force[d] or not and it was at that time you 
were caught by your grandfather on March 9, 2010? 

A Yes. 

Pros. Ybanez 

Q 

A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 
A 

Q 

A 

Court: 

And before you have sexual intercourse with this Benny Dalaguet 
your companion at the house was your sister [CCC], am I correct? 
Yes. 

A.'1d the accused arrived around 7:00 o'clock in the morning? 
Yes. 

By the way, how old is [CCC] at that time? 
Nine (9) years old. 

And what did he tell [CCC], if any, when this Benny arrived? 
He said to my sister, "You should go out[.]" 

And where w~ather then at that time on March 9, 201 0? 
They went to -

Whatmunicipalityisllllllocated? 
Part of 111111111111111 
And what about your mother, where was she then? 
She was together with my father at that time. 

So the person left in your house is you and your sister [CCC]? 
Yes. 

Did [CCC] go out from your house when she was requested by 
Benny the accused in this case to go out the house? 
Yes, because she was attending to (sic) school at that time. 

Q How about you, you do not go to school at that time? 
A No. 

xxxx 
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Pros. Ybanez: 

Q After this [CCC] left your house, wh t happened then if any? 
A He held my hand. 

Q After he held your hand, what happe ed? 
A He made me lie down and he undr ssed me. 

Q And what about Benny, did he also undress? 
A Yes. 

Q And after that while you were both dressed, what did he do to 
you? 

A We were caught in the act. 

Atty. Lajot: 

We pray [Y]our Honor, that we put th word[s,] "Nasakpan nami[.]" 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q 
A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 
A 

Court: 

By the way, who caught you? 
My grandfather. 

When you say you were caught you ean to say you were caught 
having sexual intercourse with Ben I y? 
Yes. 

When you say you have sex with Benny, was Benny able to 
penetrate his penis into your vagin ? 
No. 

After you were caught what happene ? 
(No Answer.) 

Q This is now clear that even if you sai you had sexual intercourse 
you are still maintaining that this ac used Benny was not able to 
penetrate his penis into your vagin ? 

A Yes. 

Q How can you have sexual intercours meaning in [B]isaya ''Iyot: 
if he was not able to penetrate his p nis into your vagina? 

A He just made it outside his penis. 

Q The meaning of gipagawas ang iyaha at means he was inside yours 
and then he pull it out? 

A (No answer.) 

Q In these two (2) occasion in Dece her 2009 and on March 9, 
2010 when you said you had sexual 'ntercourse with Benny you 
still maintain that he was not able to put his penis inside your 
vagina even if you call it sexual inte course? Even if you said he 
did it just outside your vagina? This is very important. 
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A Yes. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

A Miss [W]itness, am l correct to say that when you say you have 
sexual intercourse ... (interrupted) 

Court: 

Anyway, on March 9, she was also examined by the doctor and the 
doctor did not observe any fresh laceration. There maybe healed 
laceration, but it could happen to anybody. So that's clear. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q You mean to say Madam witness that you have sexual intercourse 
with Benny and this Benny was just making a push and pull 
movements? 

Court: What push and pull? How could it be a push and pull when the penis 
is not inside the vagina? That is not push and pull. You cannot push 
and pull without getting the penis inside the vagina. You might be 
doing a thrusting motion but not push and pull. Because several 
times we asked this witness whether they were doing the act. 
Whether they call it sexual intercourse; whether the penis of the 
accused entered I do not know if his penis is small. She could not 
anymore feel whether it[']s inside. It's very clear there was no fresh 
laceration also. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Let me finish this witness, [Y]our Honor. 

Q So what happened next after your Lolo caught you in the act? 
A My grandfather [ maltreated] me and he was very mad at me. 

Court: 

Q Why did your Lolo [maltreat] you if you have not committed 
something wrong? 

A Because he said, that's not good. 

Q Meaning consenting to a (sic) sexual advances of a person who is 
older that you? 

A Yes. 

Q Even if the penis of that old man did not enter your vagina? 
A Yes. 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q What did your Lolo do to Benny ifthere was any? 
A I heard that he will kill my grandfather. 

Q Did Benny kill your grandfather? 
A He was about to kill him of (sic) nobody had succumb to help. 
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Q Who was able to help? 
.A [FFF]. 

Q Who is that [FFF]? 
A Our neighbor. 

Court: 

Q So after your Lolo caught you in is sexual encounter with the 
accused he brought you to the hospit 1 or medical examination at the 
Municipal Health Office? 

A Yes. 

Q And were you exa,.,1ined by the doct r? 
A No. 

Q You mean your private parts [were] ot examined by the doctor? 
A Because there was no doctor in ur place when the incident 

happened. 

Q Were you eventually examined by th doctor? 
A Yes. 

Q Where? 
A In-

Q And there you were examined includ ng your private parts? 
A Yes. 71 (Emphasis supplied) 

It can be gleaned from AAA's tes,imony that on both incidents, 
accused-appellant's overt acts of lying on tojp of AAA while they were both 
naked, and as accused-appellant did push atd pull movements without his 
penis penetrating AAA's vagina would sh w that the element of sexual 
intercourse in the crime of rape has not bee established. AAA's testimony 
reveals that there is doubt as to how far ac!1·sed-appellant's penis had been 
outside AAA's external genitalia.72 Thus, t ere is equal doubt as to whether 
accused-appellant's penis had touched thee emal pudenda or any part of the 
vaginal wall. 73 

Accused-appellant is guilty of two 
counts of lascivious conduct under 
Section 5(b) of R.A. No. 7610 

This Court finds that accused-appellmrt is guilty of two (2) counts of 
lascivious conduct under Section 5 (b), Artie e III ofR.A. No. 7610. 

71 

72 

73 

TSN, August 2, 2011, pp. 3-17. 
People v. Dela Pena, 303 Phi!. 595,604 (I 994). 
ld. 
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In CJCL XXX" v. People, 74 this Court held: 

[T]he prosecution has proven the lascivious conduct of petitioner: 
"Ciearly, CICL XX.X's acts of kissing AAA on her lips and neck, mashing 
her breasts, removing her upper garments and panties, are morally 
inappropriate and indecent designed to abuse the latter." 

xxxx 

[C]onsidering that petitioner committed acts of lasciviousness on 
complainant AAA, who was 15 years of age at the time of the commission 
of the crime, the nomenclature of the crime should be Lascivious Conduct 
under Section 5 (b) ofR.A. No. 7610.75 

In the same manner, accused-appellant must be convicted of two counts 
of lascivious conduct under Section 5(b), Article III ofR.A. No. 7610. This 
conviction is pursuant to the variance doctrine under Sections 4 and 5, Rule 
12076 of the Rules of Court. The same offenses were proved during trial and 
are necessarily included in lascivious conduct under Section 2(h)77 of the rules 
and regulations of R.A. No. 7610, which under settled jurisprudence, is 
necessarily included in the crime ofrape.78 

It has been held that R.A. No. 7610 is applicable when the victims of 
abuse, exploitation, or discrimination are children or those "persons below 18 
years of age or those over but are unable to fully take care of themselves or 
protect themselves from abuse, neglect, cruelty, exploitation or discrimination 
because of a physical or mental disability or condition."79 Since AAA was 
only 15 years old when the two incidents of lascivious acts were committed 
against her, the application of Section 5(b) ofR.A. No. 7610 is proper. The 
provision reads: 

74 819 Phil. 467 (2017). 
75 Id. at 477-478. 
76 Section 4. Judgment in case of variance between allegation and proof - When there is variance 
between the offense charged in the complaint or information and that proved, and the offense as charged is 
included in or necessarily inciudes the offense proved, the accused shall be convicted of the offense proved 
which is included in the offense charged, or of the offense charged which is included in the offense proved. 
(4a) 
Section 5. When an offense includes or is included in another. - An offense charged necessarily includes 
the offense proved when some of the essential elements or ingredients of the former, as alleged in the 
complaint or information, constitute the latter. And an offense charged is necessarily included in the offense 
proved, when the essential ingredients of the former constitute or form a part of those constituting the latter. 
(5a) 
77 Rules and Regulations on the Reporting and Investigation of Child Abuse Cases (R.A. No. 7610), 
IRR ofR.A. No. 7610, 1993. 
SECTION 2. Definition of Terms. -As used in these Rules, unless the context requires otherwise -
xxxx 
h) "Lascivious conduct" means the intentional touching, either directly or through clothing, of the genitalia, 
anus croin breast inner thi.e:h or buttocks or the introduction of any obiect into the genitalia, anus or mouth, , b , , ..., ' ' J 

of any person, whether of the same or opposite sex, with an intent to abuse, humiliate, harass, degrade, or 
arouse or gratify the sexual desire of any person, bestiality, masturbation, lascivious exhibition of the genitals 
or pubic area of a person[.] 
78 Supra note 74, at 477. 
79 Orsos v. People, 820 Phil. l 0 15, 1025 (2017). 
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Section 5. Child Prostitution and Other Sexual Abuse. - Children, 
whether male or female, who for money, pr fit, or any other consideration 
or due to the coercion or influence of any ad t, syndicate or group, indulge 
in sexual intercourse or lascivious conduc , are deemed to be children 
exploited in prostitution and other sexual abuse. 

The penalty of reclusion temporal in its medium period to reclusion 
perpetua shall be imposed upon the following: 

xxxx 

(b) Those who commit the act of sexual int rcourse of lascivious conduct 
with a child exploited in prostitution or s bject to other sexual abuse; 
Provided, That when the victims is under ~elve (12) years of age, the 
perpetrators shall be prosecuted under Article 335, paragraph 3, for rape and 
Article 336 of Act No. 3815, as amended, th Revised Penal Code, for rape 
or lascivious conduct, as the case may be: rovided, That the penalty for 
lascivious conduct when the victim is under elve (12) years of age shall 
be reclusion temporal in its medium period; 

The elements of lascivious conduct u der Section S(b ), Articie III of 
R.A. No. 7610 are: (1) The accused commits the act of sexual intercourse or 
lascivious conduct; (2) The said act is perf. rmed with a child exploited in 
prostitution or subjected to sexual abuse; ( ) The child, whether male or 
female, is below 18 years of age.80 

The prosecution has established beyon reasonable doubt the elements 
of lascivious conduct. For the first element o lascivious conduct, the case of 
People v. Dominguez, Jr. 81 (Dominguez) is in tructive: 

In Criminal Case Nos. 02-548 and 0) 552, there is a similar dearth 
of evidence that accused-appellant was able t~ commence penetration of his 
penis into AAA's vagina. What the evidence n record established was that 
during these two occasions, accused-appell t was only able to undress 
himself and his daughter before the arrival of BB and CCC. 

80 

8I 

xxxx 

We cannot simply assume in Criminal ase Nos. 02-548 and 02-552 
that accused-appellant was intending to rape simply because accused­
appellant undressed himself and AAA duringlthese two instances, plus the 
fact that accused-appellant did rape AAA on hree other occasions. Such a 
presumption hardly constitutes proof beyond easonable doubt of the crime 
of attempted rape. The gauge in determining "411ether the crime of attempted 
rape had been committed is the commencfment of the act of sexual 
intercourse, i.e., penetration of the penis into the vagina, before the 
interruption. 

Supra note 74, at 478-479. 
650 Phil. 492 (2010). 
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As the [CA held], it has been established beyond reasonable doubt 
in Criminal Case Nos. 02-548 and 02-552 that accused-appellant committed 
the crime of acts of!asciviousness. 82 

In this case, lascivious conduct was sufficiently established. A,AA. 
testified that in December 2009 and March 2010, accused-appellant made her 
lie down, and undressed her while he also undressed himself. A.A.A also stated 
that accused-appellant had "sexual intercourse" with her against her will, 
although it is unclear whether there was penile penetration. This Court 
reiterates AA.A's testimony on the first incident of sexual molestation against 
her in December 2009 by Benny Dalaguet at a nipa hut: 

82 

Q In your affidavit there is a statement that on December 2009 while 
pasturing your cow and carabao to the farm of a certain Tatay Benny 
he invited you to go with him, am I correct? 

A No, what happened was that whenever I'll be there in the field 
pasturing my cow and carabao he was just following me. 

xxxx 

Q At what particular place in Barangay - did this Benny 
Dalaguet rape you? 

A In the hut. 

Q When you met this Benny Dalaguet while pasturing your cow you 
were brought to a hut? 

A Yes. 

Q After arriving at the hut, what did he do to you? 
A He undressed me. 

Q After undressing you, what happened if any? 

Atty. Lajot: 

We would like to manifest, your Honor, that the witness has a hard 
time in answering the question, your Honor. 

A He had sex with me. 

Q When you say "he had sex with you[,]" can you please tell us how 
did the accused have sex with you? 

A He had sexual intercourse with me. 

xxxx 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q When you say Benny Dalaguet had sexual intercourse with 
you[,] you mean to say he inserted his penis into your vagina? 

Id. at 515, 517-518. 
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A Only outside. 

Q So his penis did not penetrate into our vagina? 
A No.83 

On the second incident of sexual m lestation in March 2010, AAA 
testified: 

83 

Q The last time that you had sexual · ntercourse with the accused 
whether it's force[d] or not and it w~ at that time you were caught 
by your grandfather on March 9,201 ? 

A Yes. 

xxxx 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q After this [CCC] left your house, wh t happened then if any? 
A He held my hand. 

Q After he held your hand, what happe ed? 
A He made me lie down and he undre sed me. 

Q And what about Benny, did he also undress? 
A Yes. 

Q And after that while you were both dressed, what did he do to 
you? 

A We were caught in the act. 

Atty. Lajot: 

We pray [Y]our Honor, that we put the word[s,] "Nasakpannami[.]" 

Pros. Ybanez: 

Q 
A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 
A 

Court: 

By the way, who caught you? 
My grandfather. 

When you say you were caught you ean to say you were caught 
having sexual intercourse with Ben I y? 
Yes. 

When you say you have sex with Benny, was Benny able to 
penetrate his penis into your vagin ? 
No. 

After you were caught what happened? 
(No Answer.) 

TSN, August 2, 2011, pp. 4-8. (Emphasis supplied.) 
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Q This is now clear that even if you said you had sexual intercourse 
you are still maintaining that this accused Benny was not able to 
penetrate his penis into your vagina? 

A Yes. 

Q How can you have sexual intercourse meaning in [B]isaya "Iyot: 
if he was not able to penetrate his penis into your vagina? 

A He just made it outside his penis. 

Q The meaning of gipagawas ang iyaha that means he was inside yours 
and then he pull it out? 

A (No answer.) 

Q In these two (2) occasion in December 2009 and on March 9, 
2010 when you said you had sexual intercourse with Benny you 
still maintain that he was not able to put his penis inside your 
vagina even if you call it sexual intercourse? Even if you said he 
did it just outside your vagina? This is very important. 

A Yes. 84 

Similar to the case of Dominguez, 85 it was only established that both the 
victim and accused-appellant were undressed, in both the first and second 
incidents of sexual molestation. For this reason, there is doubt as to the 
intention of accused-appellant to rape AAA. Based on AAA's testimony it is 
unclear whether there was penetration. Rather, her testimony clearly 
established that accused-appellant's objective is to pursue his lewd designs 
against AAA, which constitutes the crime of lascivious conduct under Section 
5(b) ofR.A. No. 7610. 

The prosecution has established beyond reasonable doubt the elements 
of lascivious conduct. For the first element of lascivious conduct, the case of 
Dominguez86 is instructive: 

84 

85 

86 

In Criminal Case Nos. 02-548 and 02-552, there is a similar dearth 
of evidence that accused-appellant was able to commence penetration of his 
penis into AAA's vagina. What the evidence on record established was that 
during these two occasions, accused-appellant was only able to undress 
himself and his daughter before the arrival of BBB and CCC. 

xxxx 

We cannot simply assmne in Criminal Case Nos. 02-548 and 02-552 
that accused-appellant was intending to rape AAA simply because accused­
appellant undressed himself and AAA during these two instances, plus the 
fact that accused-appellant did rape AAA on three other occasions. Such a 
presumption hardly constitutes proof beyond reasonable doubt of the crime 
of attempted rape. The gauge in detennining whether the crime of attempted 
rape had been committed is the commencement of the act of sexual 

Jd. at l 0-14. (Emphasis supplied.) 
Supra note 81. 
Id. 



Decision 27 G.R. No. 249414 

intercourse, i.e., penetration of the pems into the vagina, before the 
interruption. 

As the [CA held], it has been established beyond reasonable doubt 
in Criminal Case Nos. 02-548 a_rid 02-552 th t accused-appellant cmmnitted 
the crime of acts oflasciviousness.87 

In this case, lascivious conduct wa. sufficiently established. AAA 
t~stified that in December 2009_ and March 2P, 10, acc1:sed-appellant made her 
he down, and undressed her while he also unoressed himself. AAA also stated 
that accused-appellant had "sexual intercofrse" with her against her will, 
although it is unclear whether there was penile penetration. This created a 
doubt as to the commission of the crime ofraJe, b;t not for lascivious conduct. 

For the second element, a child is dee~ed exploited in prostitution, or 
subjected to other sexual abuse when the chi d indulges in sexual intercourse, 
or lascivious conduct either: (a) for money, p ofit, or any other consideration; 
or (b) under the coercion, or influence of any adult, syndicate or group. 
In Quimvel v. People, 88 it was held that lasci ious conduct under the coercion 
or influence of any adult exists when the is some form of compulsion 
equivalent to intimidation, which subdues e free exercise of the offended 
party's free will. 89 Influence is defined as th improper use of power or trust 
in any way that deprives a person of fre9 will and substitutes another's 
objective,90 while coercion is the improper use of power to compel another to 
submit to the wishes of one who wields it. 91 

In this case, AAA was only 15 years ol when she was sexually abused 
in December 2009 and March 2010. Considering her age, she was vulnerable 
and would have been easily intimidated by a\peqJetrator who is a full-blown 
adult. For the first incident of sexual abuse, -4-AA testified that she struggled, 
but could not get away from accused-appellant because the latter held her 
tightly, a.'1d that she shouted for help, but tol no avail. 92 On the second time 
accused-appellant sexually abused her, the former told AAA that should she 
tell her parents of her or~eal, her parents w~lf no! believe her and w?uld just 
"maltreat" her.93 These circums~a~ces const1trte mfluence. and coercro~. 

The third element of !asc1v10us condu t under Sect10n 5(b ), Article III 
of R.A. No. 7610 was also established whe AAA's Birth Certificate was 
admitted as evidence. It proved that at the ime of the commission of the 
lascivious act, AAA was only 15 years old. 

87 

88 

S9 

90 

91 

92 

93 

Id at 515, 517-518. 
808 Phil. 889 (20 I 7). 
Id at 919. 
Id. 
Id 
TSN, August 2, 20 l I, p.6. 
Id 
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Thus, all the essential elements of lascivious conduct under Section 
5(b), Article III ofR.A. No. 7610 have been proven beyond reasonable doubt. 

Applicability of R.A. JVo. 11648 

On March 22, 2022, R.A. No. 11648,94 which increased the age for 
determining the commission of statutory rape a..'1d other sexual acts, from 12 
years old to 16 years old.95 R.A. No. 11648 also amended the applicable laws 
and penalty for the crimes of acts of lasciviousness, lascivious conduct, and 
rape by carnal knowledge or sexual assault. 

To determine whether the new law is applicable to the case at bar, We 
consider whether the imposable penalty under R.A. No. 11648 is more 
favorable to the accused-appellant. 

The penalty prescribed by law for lascivious conduct under Section 
5(b), Article III ofR.A. No. 7610 is reclusion temporal in its medium period 
to reclusion perpetua. Although R.A. No. 7610 is a special law, the penalty 
provided under R.A. No. 7610 is taken from the range of penalties under the 
RPC. Thus, the rules in the RPC for graduating penalties by degrees or 
determining the proper period should be applied.96 Where the special law 
adopted penalties from the RPC, the Indeterminate Sentence Law will apply, 
just as it would in felonies.97 Applying Section 1 of the Indeterminate 
Sentence Law,98 and there being no aggravating or mitigating circumstances 

94 An Act Providing for Stronger Protection Against Rape and Sexual Exploitation and Abuse, 
Increasing the Age for Detennining the Commission of Statutory Rape, Amending for the Purpose Act No. 
3815, as Amended, Otherwise Known as "The Revised Penal Code," Republic Act No. 8353, also Known as 
"The Anti-Rape Law of 1997," and Republic Act No. 76! 0, as Amended, Otherwise Known as the "Special 
Protection of Children Against Abuse, Exploitation and Discrimination Act", Republic Act No. 11648 
(2022). 
9s Id. §1. 

Section I. Article 266-A (I)( d) of Act No. 3 8 l 5, otherwise known as "The Revised Penal Code" as amended 
by Republic Act No. 8353 otherwise known as "The Anti-Rape Law of 1998," is hereby further amended to 
read as follows: 

"Article 266-A. Rape: When and How Committed - Rape is Committed: 
"1) By a person who shall have carnal knowledge of another person under any of the following 

circumstances: 
xxxx 
"d) When the offended party is under sixteen (I 6) years of age or is demented, even though none of 

the circumstances mentioned above be present: Provided, That there shall be no criminal liability on the part 
of a person having carnal knowledge of another person under sixteen (I 6) years of age when the age 
difference between the parties is not more than three (3) years, and the sexual act in question is proven to be 
consensual, non-abusive and non-exploitative: Provided further, That if the victim is under thirteen (I 3) years 
of age, this exception shall not apply. 

xxxx 
96 Melvin Encinares y Ballon v. People of the Philippines, G.R. No. 252267, January l l, 202!. 
97 Id 
98 An Act to Provide for an !ndetenninate Sentence and Parole for All Persons Convicted of Certain 
Crimes by the Courts of the Philippine Islands; to Create a Board of Indetenninate Sentence and to Provide 
Funds Therefor; and for Other Purposes [The Indeterminate Sentence Law]. Act No. 4203, as amended by 
Act No. 4225 of J 965, § I (l 933). 
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attendant in the crimes which the accused appellant is found guilty of, the 
maximum term shall be taken from the medium period of the imposable 
penalty while the minimum term of imprisohment shall be taken from within 
the r~ge oft~e penalty_n~xt lower in degr~e, which is prision mayor in its 
medium enod as mm1mum to recluswn tem oral as its maximum 
period of imprisonment. 

Meanwhile, applying Section 1 ofth Indeterminate Sentence Law to 
the crime of Acts of Lasciviousness under icle 336 of the RPC in relation 
to Section 5(b)99 of R.A. No. 7610, as a1ended by R.A. No. 11648, the 
~rescribed penalty of reclusion temporal in its medium period shall have an 
imposable penalty of reclusion tempora minimum, as minimum, to 
reclusion tem oral medium in its mediudi eriod as maximum term of 
imprisonment. 

This Court points out that R.A. No. 11 fu48 decreased the maximum term 
of imprisonment, but nonetheless increa ed the minimum term of the 
indeterminate penalty. 

Under Article 22100 of the RPC, pe al laws shall have a retroactive 
effect insofar as it is favorable to the ace sed. In addition to the penalty 
imposed, We shall examine the effect ofR. . No. 11648 to the elements of 
the crime of violation ofR.A. No. 7610. 

Section I. Hereafter, in imposing a prison sentence for an off< nse punished by the Revised Penal Code, or 
its amendments, the court shall sentence the accused to an 3· 

1 
determinate sentence the maximum term of 

which shall be that which, in view of the attending circumstan es, could be properly imposed under the rules 
of the said Code, and the minimum which shall be within the r ge of the penalty next lower to that prescribed 

. by the Code for the offense; and if the offense is punished 11 
any other law, the court shall sentence the 

accused to an indeterminate sentence, the maximum term of hich shall not exceed the maximum fixed by 
said ]aw and the minimum shall not be less than the minimum erm prescribed by the same. 
99 Republic Act No. I 1648. §3. 
SEC. 3. Sections 5(b), 7, 9 and lO(b) of Republic Act No. 76li otherwise known as the Special Protection 
of Children Against Abuse, Exploitation and Discrimination A I are hereby amended to read as follows: 

"SEC. 5. Child Prostitution and Other Sex al Abuse. Children whether male or female, 
who for money, profit or any other consideration or 'ue to the coercion or influence of any adult, 
syndicate or group, indulge in sexual intercourse or Ikscivious conduct, are deemed to be children 
exploited in prostitution and other sexual abuse. ~ · 
xxxx 

(b) Those who commit the act of sexual in recurse of lascivious condu~t ~ith. a child 
exploited in prostitution or subject to other sexual ab~se; Provided, That ~he~!he victims IS ~nder 
sixteen (16) years of age, the perpetrators shall be ppsecuted under Article 005, paragraph o, for 
rape and Article 336 of Act No. 3815, as amended, o· erwise known as "The Revised Penal Code", 
for rape or lascivious conduct, as the case may be: Provided, That the penalty for lascivious 
conduct when the victim is under sixteen (16) yea s of age shall be reclusion temporal in its 

medjum period; and 
,oo Article 22. Retroactive effect of penal laws. - Penal I ws shall have a retroactive effect insofar as 
they favor the person guilty of a felony, who is not a habitual criminal, as this term is defined in rule 5 of 
article 62 of this Code, although at the time of the publicat on of such laws a final sentence has been 
pronounced and the convict is serving the same. 
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Under Section 5101 of the Indeterminate Sentence Law (Republic Act 
No. 4103, as amended), after the accused-appellant has served the minimum 
indeterminate penalty, he becomes eligible for review of his parole case: 

Sec. 5. It shall be the duty of the Board of Indeterminate Sentence 
to look into the physical, mental and moral record of t.½.e prisoners who shall 
be eligible to parole and to determine the proper time of release of such 
prisoners. Whenever any prisoner shall have served the minimum penalty 
imposed on him, and it shall appear to the Board of Indeterminate Sentence, 
from the reports of the prisoner's work and conduct which may be received 
in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed, and from the study 
and investigation made by the Board itself, that such prisoner is fitted by his 
training for release, that there is a reasonable probability that such prisoner 
will live and remain at liberty without violating the law, and that such 
release will not be incompatible with the welfare of society, said Board of 
Indeterminate Sentence may, in its discretion, and in accordance with the 
rules and regulations adopted hereunder, authorize the release of such 
prisoner on parole, upon such terms and conditions as are herein prescribed 
and as may be prescribed by the Board. The said Board of Indeterminate 
Sentence shall also examine the records and statns of prisoners who 
shall have been convicted of any offense other than those named in 
Section 2 hereof, and have been sentenced for more than one year by 
final judgment prior to the date on which this Act shall take effect, and 
shall make recommendation in all such cases to the Governor-General 
with regard to the parole of such prisoners as they shall deem qualified 
for parole as herein provided, after they shall have served a period of 
imprisonment not less than the minimum period for which they might 
have been sentenced under this Act for the same offense. 

Notably, the new law increased the minimum term of indeterminate 
penalty imposed upon the accused-appellant: from prisi6n mayor medium to 
reclusion temporalminimum. The retroactive application ofR.A. No. 11648 
will thus. result into a higher minimum term of the indeterminate penalty. 
Considering that the new penalty has a higher minimum term, it is more 
burdensome to the accused-appellant as it will take him a longer period of 
time to ser✓e the minimum of the indeterminate sentence before he becomes 
eligible for a review of his parole case. 

Further, R.A. No. 11648 raised the age of consent to 16 years old. As a 
result, acts of lasciviousness committed against a child who is less than 16 
years old, becomes statutory acts of lasciviousness. In this situation, R.A. No. 
11648 made it easier to establish t.11.e guilt of the accused because it eased the 
burden of the prosecution to prove the lack of consent on the part of the victim. 

101 An Act to Provide for an Indeterminate Sentence and Parole for All Persons Convicted of Certain 
Crimes by the Courts of the Philippine Islands; to Create a Board of Indeterminate Sentence and to Provide 
Funds Therefor; and for Other Purposes [The Indeterminate Sentence Law]. Act No. 4203, as amended by 
Act No. 4225 of 1965, § l (1933). (Emphasis and underscoring supplied.} . 
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Thus, to apply R.A. No. 11648 retroactively to this case will not be 
fa~orable to the accused-appellant. We ther fore apply R.A. No. 7 61 0, prior 
to its amendment. 

The penalties 

Applying R.A. No. 7610 prior to i1is amendment, this Court finds 
accused-appellant guilty beyond reasonabl doubt for two (2) counts of 
lascivious conduct under Section 5(b), Artie e III ofR.A. No. 7610. 

The penalty prescribed by law for I scivious conduct under Section 
5(b), Article III ofR.A. No. 7610 is reclusioh temporal in its medium period 
to reclusion perpetua. Applying Section 1 I of the IndeteITPinate Sentence 
Law, 

102 
and there being no aggravating or mjtigating circumstances attendant 

in the crimes which the accused-appellant if found guilty of, the maximum 
term shall be taken from the medium period of the imposable penalty while 
the minimum term of imprisonment shall b taken from within the range of 
the penalty next lower in degree, which is pri ion mayor in its medium period 
to reclusion temporal in its minimum period. Accused-appellant is sentenced 
to suffer the indeterminate penalty of impriso ent of eight (8) years and one 
(1) day of prisi6n mayor in its medium peri d, as minimum, to twenty (20) 
years of reclusion temporal, as maximum, for violation of Section 5(b) ofR.A. 
No. 7610. 

The damages 

In addition, the award of civil inde ities, moral, and exemplary 
damages are proper for the two (2) counts ofl~scivious conduct under Section 
5(b ), Article III ofR.A. No. 7610. The dama!es to be awarded for each count 
of lascivious conduct shall be 1'50,000.00 eaqh for the civil indemnity, moral 
damages, and exemplary damages, pursuant to People v. Tulagan, 103 with 
interest at the rate of six percent ( 6%) per an um from the date of finality of 
judgment until fully paid. 104 

102 An Act to Provide for an Indeterminate Sentence and Parole for All Persons Convicted of Certain 
Crimes by the Courts of the Philippine Islands; to Create a Bo d of Indeterminate Sentence and to Provide 
Funds Therefor; and for Other Purposes [The Indeterminate S ntence Law]. Act No. 4203, as amended by 
Act No. 4225 of 1965, § l (1933). I 

Section l. Hereafter, in imposing a prison sentence for an offehse punished by the Revised Penal Code, or 
its amendments, the court shall sentence the accused to an intleterminate sentence the maximum term of 
which shall be that which, in _view of the attending circumstanc~s, could be properly imposed under the rnles 
of the said Code. and the mm1mum which shall be w1thm the range of the penalty next lower to that prescnbed 
by the Code fo; the offense; and if the offense is punished b~ any other law, the court shall sentence the 
accused to an indeterminate sentence, the maximum term of ~~ich shall not exceed the maximum fixed by 
said law and the minimum shall not be less than the minimum t. rm prescribed by the same. 
103 G.R. No. 227363, March 12, 2019, 896 SCRA 307. 
104 People of the Philippines v. Danilo B. Tuyor, G.R. No. 241780, October 12, 2020. 



Decision 

Observations upon determining the 
applicability of R.A. No. 11648 to the 
case at bar 
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The clear intent ofR.A. No. 11648 is to provide for stronger protection 
against rape and sexual exploitation and abuse, by raising the age of consent 
to 16 years old. However, this Court observes that the penalty for violation of 
Section 5(b) of R.A. No. 7610, as an1ended by R.A. No. 11648, which is 
reclusion temporal medium when the victim is less than 16 years old, is lower, 
compared to the penalty of reclusion temporal in its medium period to 
reclusion perpetua, when the victim is at least 16 years old but less than 18 
years old. Further, no amendment was made in R.A. No. 11648 to address the 
situation where t.he crime of acts of lasciviousness is attended by an 
aggravating circumstance or committed by persons under Section 3 I, 105 

Article XII of R.A. No. 7610, the imposable penalty of which is reclusion 
perpetua. As such, when there are no mitigating or aggravating circumstance 
attendant in t.he crime of acts of lasciviousness, the penalty when such crime 
was committed against a child who is less t.han 16 years old, is higher than the 
penalty when the child is at least 16 years old, but less than 18 years old. It is 
a basic principle that courts may correct clerical errors, or obvious mistakes, 
omissions, and misprints to reflect the real and apparent intention of the 
legislature.106 However, courts cannot correct those that are due to oversight 
as shown by a review of extraneous circumstances, where the law is clear, and 
to correct it would change the meaning of the law. 107 The proper remedy to 
address the discrepancies in the penalties for acts ofiasciviousness committed 
against a child is corrective legislation. The same remedy of corrective 
legislation is also applicable in fixing the penalties provided for in a crime of 
acts oflasciviousness under Article 336 of the RPC, in relation to Section 5(b) 
of R.A. No. 7610, as amended (reclusion temporal in its medium period), 
which prescribes a higher penalty than for the crime of Rape by Sexual 
Assault, which is only punishable by prisi6n mayor. 

ACCORDINGLY, the appeal is DISMISSED. The Decision of the 
Court of Appeals dated June 25, 2019 in CA-G.R. CEB CR HC No. 02332 is 
AFFIRMED. Accused-appellant Benny Dalaguet is GUILTY beyond 
reasonable doubt of two (2) counts of Lascivious Conduct under Section 5(b ), 
Article III of the Special Protection of Children Against Abuse, Exploitation 
and Discrimination Act (Republic Act No. 7610). He is sentenced to suffer 
the indeterminate penalty of eight (8) years and one (1) day of prisi6n mayor, 
in its medium period, as minimum, to twenty (20) years of reclusion temporal 

105 Section 31. Common Penal Provisions. -
xxxx 

(c) The penalty provided herein shall be imposed in its maximum period when the perpetrator _is an 
ascendant, parent, guardian, stepparent or collateral relative within the second degree of consangumrty or 
affinity, or a manager or owner of an establishment which has no license to operate or its license has expired 
or has been revoked. (Emphasis supplied) 
106 People v. Tulagan 1 supra note 103. 
101 Id 
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as maximum term of imprisonment for ea h count of violation. Accused­
appellant is ORDERED to pay private co~1 plainant AAA the amounts of 
!'50,000.00 as civil indemnity, !'50,000.00 as moral damages, and !'50,000.00 
as exemplary damages, for each count ofvi iation, with legal interest of six 
percent ( 6%) per annum from the date of fi ality of this Decision until full 
payment. 

Pursuan.t to Article 5 of the Revised Penal Code, let a copy of this 
Decision be furnished the President of the Republic of the Philippines, 
through the Department of Justice, the P sident of the Senate, and the 
Speaker of the House of Representatives. 

SO ORDERED. 

WE CONCUR: 

JHOSE~OPEZ 
Associate Justice 

Senior Associate 
Chairperson, Second ivision 

AMY C.~ VIER 
Abociate Justice 
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